

Integrating Compaq Insight Manager with Cabletron SPECTRUM Enterprise Manager

Compaq TechNote

First Edition (October 1997) Part Number 276461-001 Compaq Computer Corporation

Notice

The information in this publication is subject to change without notice.

COMPAQ COMPUTER CORPORATION SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR TECHNICAL OR EDITORIAL ERRORS OR OMISSIONS CONTAINED HEREIN, NOR FOR INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES RESULTING FROM THE FURNISHING, PERFORMANCE, OR USE OF THIS MATERIAL. THIS INFORMATION IS PROVIDED "AS IS" AND COMPAQ COMPUTER CORPORATION DISCLAIMS ANY WARRANTIES, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY AND EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR PARTICULAR PURPOSE, GOOD TITLE AND AGAINST INFRINGEMENT.

This publication contains information protected by copyright. No part of this publication may be photocopied or reproduced in any form without prior written consent from Compaq Computer Corporation.

© 1997 Compaq Computer Corporation. All rights reserved. Printed in the U.S.A.

The software described in this guide is furnished under a license agreement or nondisclosure agreement. The software may be used or copied only in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

This publication does not constitute an endorsement of the product or products that were tested. The configuration or configurations tested or described may or may not be the only available solution. This test is not a determination of product quality or correctness, nor does it ensure compliance with any federal, state, or local requirements. Compaq does not warrant products other than its own strictly as stated in Compaq product warranties.

Compaq, Compaq Insight Manager, ProLiant, SmartStart, and NetFlex, registered United States Patent and Trademark Office.

Netelligent, is a trademark and/or service mark of Compaq Computer Corporation.

Microsoft, MS-DOS, Windows, and Windows NT are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

SPECTRUM is a registered trademark of Cabletron Corporation.

Product names mentioned herein may be trademarks and/or registered trademarks of their respective companies.

Integrating Compaq Insight Manager with Cabletron SPECTRUM Enterprise Manager

First Edition (October 1997) Part Number 276461-001

Contents

Chapter 1 About This TechNote

Additional Resources to Use	1-	-2
Document Conventions	1-	.3

Chapter 2

Integration Feature Summary

AutoDiscovery of Compaq Devices	.2-2
Views of the Compaq Specific MIBs	. 2-3
Expansion Board View	.2-6
Compaq Alarm Integration	.2-7
Setting of Compaq-Specific Thresholds	2-7
Support for Compaq Desktops, Portables and Professional Workstations	2-7

Chapter 3

Preinstallation Considerations

Hardware and Software Requirements	3-1
Additional Hardware Requirements	3-2

Chapter 4

Installing the Compaq Management Module

Installation as part of the initial SPECTRUM installation4-1
Installation to an existing SPECTRUM installation4-1
SpectroSERVER Catalogs and SpectroGRAPH Component Considerations4-2

.

. iv Contents

.

.

Chapter 5 Using the Integration

Modeling of Compaq Devices	5-1
Using the Expansion Board View	5-3
Setting Compaq-Specific Thresholds	5-5

.

Chapter 6 Sample Management Solution Scenarios

Automating Event Management of Compaq Systems
Compiling Compaq MIBs into the SPECTRUM MIB Browser

Appendix A Troubleshooting

Appendix B Acquiring the Compaq Management Module

Index

1-1

Chapter 1 About This TechNote

The purpose of this TechNote is to provide customers who are currently using or considering using Cabletron SPECTRUM in their environment with the ability to manage their Compaq equipment from one Enterprise Console. It also provides information to assist future customers in selecting the appropriate Enterprise Management platform for their environment.

The information presented in this document deals with SPECTRUM version 4.0, rev 3, and is based on technical knowledge acquired while testing the integration.

This TechNote covers the integration of Compaq Insight Manager with Cabletron's SPECTRUM Enterprise Management Environment and is intended for Network Administrators and System Integrators who have knowledge of Compaq Insight Manager and Cabletron SPECTRUM. It focuses on specific integration points for Compaq servers, desktops, portables and professional workstations.

This Technote provides:

- An understanding of the Compaq Insight Manager/Cabletron SPECTRUM integration.
- Sample scenarios that describe possible uses of the integration.
- Differences in the management of servers and desktops.
- Integration features of Compaq Events in the SPECTRUM Enterprise Alarm Manager.

1-2 About This TechNote

Additional Resources to Use

The following list of resources, used throughout this TechNote, provide additional information on Compaq Insight Manager and Cabletron SPECTRUM:

Compaq Management CD

This CD contains the Compaq Insight Manager Online User Guide that explains how to use Compaq Insight Manager. The CD is included with all Compaq Server products.

SPECTRUM Documentation CD

Cabletron provides an extensive library of documentation on CD for the installation, configuration, administration, and operation of the SPECTRUM product. The following documents contain reference information relevant to this TechNote:

- □ Administrator's Reference
- **D** Compaq Insight Manager Management Module Guide
- □ Application View Reference
- Getting Started with SPECTRUM 4.0 for Administrators
- Getting Started with SPECTRUM 4.0 for Operators
- □ GIF Editor
- □ How to Manage Your Network with SPECTRUM
- Operators Reference
- Deviable Management Application Tools Guide
- **Gamma** Report Generator User's Guide
- D Third Party PC and Workstation Management Module Guide
- Cabletron Home Page: http://www.cabletron.com
- Compaq Home Page: http://www.compaq.com
- Compaq Insight Manager Home Page:

http://www.compaq.com/products/servers/management/cim/index.html

Document Conventions

. .

Table 1-1 lists the conventions used to distinguish elements of text in this document:

.

. .

.

.

. . . .

. . .

Document Conventions				
Convention	Use			
OK, CANCEL	Window command button labels appear in bold caps.			
CTRL + DEL	Keyboard keys appear in bold caps. When you see a plus sign (+) between two keys, hold down the first key while you simultaneously press the second key.			
c:\dirname\filename.exe	Path Names of items such as files, directories, resources, groups, and services appear in bold italics.			
Select Item \rightarrow Item	Items you select from a pull-down menu appear in bold initial caps, separated by arrows for each submenu item.			
SMALL CAPITALS	Represent key names such as CTRL.			
Bold	Represents system stored procedures and user-entered text.			
Italics	Represents database names, table names, column names, index names and variables.			
Monospace	Represents examples, displayed text, and error messages.			
[brackets]	Identify optional items in syntax. Type only the information within the brackets; do not type the brackets.			
{braces}	Identify required items in syntax. Type only the information within the braces; do not type the braces.			
(ellipsis)	Indicates that you can repeat the previous syntax item.			
(vertical bar)	Means "or" and signifies that you can choose only one of the items within the brackets or braces.			
USER INPUT	Information to be entered by the user is shown in uppercase and in a different typeface.			

Integrating Compaq Insight Manager with Cabletron SPECTRUM Enterprise Manager

.

2-1

Chapter 2 Integration Feature Summary

SPECTRUM is Cabletron's Network Management System for large-scale, multi-LAN, multi-node communication networks. SPECTRUM is based on a client/server model. The client, which provides the graphical user interface, is called SpectroGRAPH, and the server, which includes the SPECTRUM knowledge base, is called SpectroSERVER.

SPECTRUM was initially developed to manage Cabletron network equipment. It has since been expanded to manage products from other network product vendors, as well as computing devices from Enterprise Servers (Unix and NT) all the way to desktops. These devices include:

- Routers
- Hubs
- Bridges
- Enterprise Servers
- Compute Nodes
- Desktops
- Professional Workstations

SPECTRUM Enterprise Manager integrates with Compaq Insight Manager, enabling SPECTRUM to manage Compaq systems within a distributed network. Compaq Insight Manager affords easy management of servers and desktops by providing intelligent monitoring and alerting, remote maintenance, and visual control. When combined with SPECTRUM, Compaq Insight Manager's functional capabilities expand, providing a broad range of centralized functionality in managing multiple technologies in a heterogeneous distributed environment.

SPECTRUM gathers information by communicating directly with the Compaq Insight Management Agents. SPECTRUM automatically notifies the Administrator through the SPECTRUM console when a situation requires attention. Automatic problem filtering is possible through the Enterprise Alarm Manager.

Cabletron's integration into SPECTRUM is with Management Modules. The Compaq integration is called the Compaq Management Module.

2-2 Integration Feature Summary

By monitoring Compaq Insight Management Agents, the Compaq Management Module (MM) provides the ability to manage fault conditions, monitor performance, and control security and configuration.

There are several integration points:

- Autodiscovery of Compaq Devices
- Views of Compaq Specific MIBs
- Expansion Board View
- Compaq Alarm Integration
- Setting of Compaq Specific Thresholds
- Support for Compaq Servers, Desktops, Portables and Professional Workstations

AutoDiscovery of Compaq Devices

SPECTRUM has an AutoDiscovery feature that automatically discovers devices on the network. After installation of SPECTRUM and the Compaq Management Module (outlined in Chapter 4), an AutoDiscovery can be initiated. SPECTRUM searches the net and discovers devices. If the device is a Compaq device and is running the Compaq Insight Management Agents, SPECTRUM recognizes it as a Compaq device and represents it as such on the map.

AutoDiscovery can be run on any level of the network. It does not have to discover the entire network each time it is executed. Specific subnets can be identified as targets for AutoDiscovery.

Please refer to *Getting Started with SPECTRUM 4.0 for Administrators* for specific details on running the AutoDiscovery feature.

2-3

.

Views of the Compaq Specific MIBs

To complement the network level monitoring of SPECTRUM, hardware-level component information for Compaq servers, desktops, and professional workstations can be monitored and managed using the Compaq Management Module. The following Management Information Base (MIB) categories are represented in the Compaq Management Module:

- Compaq Host OS
- Compaq IDA
- Compaq Server Health
- Compaq Storage Systems
- Compaq SCSI Sub-Systems
- Compaq System Information
- Compaq Thresholds

2-4 Integration Feature Summary



Each of these categories appears as an icon within the Application area of the SPECTRUM Nodeview, as shown in Figure 2-1.

Figure 2-1. Nodeview Screen

2-5

Views can be obtained by moving the cursor over the desired application and clicking the right mouse button. A menu appears that shows the MIB items for that group. An example of this would be to click on the 'HostOS' icon. The menu would appear with the following items to choose from:

- Configuration
- OS Common Modules
- OS CPU Utilization
- OS File System Table
- OS Info
- OS Interface Physical Map
- OS Running Software

Output is generally in a tabular format. For example, if the selected menu choice queried a server to see which IDA disks reside within a server, SPECTRUM would query the server and display the following screen:

	DA of type CmpqIDAApp of Landscape thumper.sysmgmtsol.compaq.com: Primary	_ 🗆 ×
^	* <u>File</u> <u>View</u>	Help <u>?</u>
	Compaq IDA Physical Drives	
N	Model Name IIDA Network Address 172.25.162.11 System Up Time 8+12:09:20	
C	Contact Manufacturer Compag	
Γ	Description Hardware: x86 Family 5 Model 2 Stepping 5 COMPAQ SYMMETRI Device Type Compaq Insi:	ght A
	Location 📔 🔤 Primary Application MIB-II 🖃 Serial Number 📔	
e l		
6		_
		A
	Controller Drive Model Firmware Bay Status Threshold Condition Size(mb) Hot Plug Placement SCSI J	lus
۲	7 1 COMPAQ M2694ES-512 952B 1 ok failed ok 1001 hotPlug internal 1 7 2 COMPAQ M2694ES-512 952B 2 ok failed ok 1001 hotPlug internal 1	
		⊐⊵≝

Figure 2-2. Compaq IDA Physical Drive screen

2-6 Integration Feature Summary

Expansion Board View

The integration provides for a view of the expansion boards in a Compaq server. This view is available for Compaq servers running the Compaq Insight Management Agent. The view provides a quick look at the boards installed in the server. Further information, such as utilization, CPU speeds, NIC type and speed, can be obtained through this view. The view is accessed by moving the mouse over the Nodeview icon and clicking Device, then Expansion Boards.

Note: Board views of desktops, portables, and Professional Workstations are not currently available.

ile_End.sysmgmt of type Host_Compaq of Landscape thumper.sysmgmtsol.compaq.com: Primary	_ 🗆
<u>File View</u>	Help
del Name Mile_End.sysmgmt Network Address [172.25.162.11 System Up Time [6+23:32:11 ntact	ht
0 Compaq ProLiant 4500 Server	⊳
1 (Empty) 2 (Empty) 3 Compag Renote Insight Board	
4 (Empty) 5 Compage NetFlex-3/E Controller	
6 (Empty)	
8 (Lmpty) 9 Server Intersete Bellin Fart-Ride SC 10 Genera Scilla Processer Insel (PR)	

Figure 2-3. Expansion Board View

2-7

Compaq Alarm Integration

The SPECTRUM/Compaq Insight Manager integration includes an integration of Compaq Insight Manager Events and Alarms into the SPECTRUM Enterprise Alarm Manager (EAM). This provides such things as color code status of the icons, event correlation within the EAM that brings the real problem to the forefront, ability to view an actual event, possible causes, and suggested fixes.

The Alarm integration also allows SPECTRUM to have knowledge of Compaq equipment when determining problems on a network wide basis. This means that SPECTRUM is able to detect a problem, such as a disk failure, and not assume the problem is network related. This allows an Information Systems organization to be more proactive in determining problems on the Wide Area Network.

Setting of Compaq-Specific Thresholds

Through the Application view, SPECTRUM allows for the setting of Compaqspecific thresholds. Through the setting of thresholds, disk utilization, CPU utilization, Thermal Conditions, and EISA Bus utilization can be monitored. Settings are on a per-machine basis.

Support for Compaq Desktops, Portables and Professional Workstations

Support for Compaq desktops and portables is available as long as the desktop is running the Compaq Insight Management Agent. Desktops and portables support a subset of the MIB. Refer to the *Compaq Insight Manager Online User Guide* for details. Information on items such as CPU utilization, disk drive information, disk utilization, and serial numbers can be obtained. Compaq events and alarms from desktops are recognized, and color status changes occur.

2-8 Integration Feature Summary

Support for Compaq Professional Workstations is very similar to that of Compaq servers. This is because the Professional Workstations run the Compaq Insight Management agents. The only difference is that the Expansion Board View is not currently available. ••••••••••••••

. . 3-1

Chapter 3 Preinstallation Considerations

Hardware and Software Requirements

Before beginning the installation, you should be familiar with the *SPECTRUM Core Software Release Notice* (SRN), which specifies current hardware and software requirements for each of the platforms on which SPECTRUM is supported. The SRN also describes new features and identifies any known anomalies associated with the installation process.

Table 3-1

Type of InstallationMinimum
Swap SpaceMinimum Physical
RAMMinimum Available
Disk SpaceSpectroSERVER256MB96MB300 MB SCSISpectroGRAPH128MB64MB300 MB SCSI

Recommended Minimum System Requirements for SPECTRUM

Note: Cabletron recommends that SpectroSERVER and SpectroGRAPH be on separate machines when SPECTRUM is installed on the Windows NT platform.

3-2 Preinstallation Considerations

Disk and RAM Requirements

- Recommended swap space should be twice the minimum installed RAM.
- Minimum Available Disk Space is for SPECTRUM ONLY.
- Total Disk Required = OS + swap + SPECTRUM + additional for users/modeling.
- Windows NT: 1-GB SCSI is required to meet "Total Disk Required" as noted above.

Additional Hardware Requirements

- Intel-based Pentium 150 MHz or Greater CPU.
- Video Card with 4 MB of memory, 65K color support and 1024x768 resolution.
- 17-inch color monitor or larger (recommended) for SpectroGRAPH running GUI clients.
- CD-ROM Drive.

Chapter 4 Installing the Compaq Management Module

Installation as part of the initial SPECTRUM installation

The Compaq Management Module is provided on the SPECTRUM CD and is installed during the installation of SPECTRUM by acquiring the proper extraction key from Cabletron. Follow the instructions in the SPECTRUM Installation Guide.

To test if the installation of the module was successful, create a new model by IP. Compaq should be listed in the available models. If Compaq is not an available model, there may be a problem with your keys. Contact Cabletron for new keys.

Installation into an existing SPECTRUM environment

The same process that is used to initially install SPECTRUM is used when adding a module later, such as the Compaq Management Module. Follow the *SPECTRUM Installation Guide* using the extraction key provided by Cabletron. The Module Selection Screen appears with the current installation base selected. Select the Compaq Module and deselect all others. This installs only the Compaq Management Module.

.

4-2 Installing the Compaq Management Module

SpectroSERVER Catalogs and SpectroGRAPH Component Considerations

If a customer has multiple SpectroSERVER sites the Compaq Management Module must be installed at all sites; SpectroSERVERs must be in sync at all times. If the module is not installed at all sites there will be a problem not only with graph components but also with the database backups. Contact Cabletron for licensing details.

5-1

Chapter 5 Using the Integration

Modeling of Compaq Devices

Modeling of Compaq devices is done through two methods. One method is through Autodiscovery, as discussed in Chapter 2. The other way is to manually model a Compaq device.

Manual modeling is done by navigating to the View where the model is to be placed. Select **File** \rightarrow **Edit**. Then select **Edit** \rightarrow **New Model**. A dialog box appears with the available models, as shown in the Figure 5-1.



Figure 5-1. Select Model Type

5-2 Using the Integration

Scroll down until the model 'Host_Compaq' appears, then double-click on it. This displays a dialog box that asks about the device, as shown in Figure 5-2.

	Compaq Hosts of type Fanout of Landscape thumper.sysmgmtsol.compaq.com: Primary	.o×
M	" <u>File Edit</u> H	elp <u>?</u>
Ne		
	🔛 Creating Host_Compaq	
	Host Compag Creation View	Ų
	Model Name	■⊳
	Network Address	
R	Loomunity Name public	
	Host_Compag Host_Compag Serial Number Host_Compag	
М	Security String	
	Polling Interval 300	
	Hoor_Park.sysnem Server_Hub.sys OK Cancel Cargeto	

Figure 5-2. Host Creation View

Enter the appropriate information about the Compaq device being modeled. Click **OK**. SPECTRUM goes out to the device to verify that it is a Compaq device through detection of the Compaq Insight Management Agents. After the Agents are detected, an icon depicting the Compaq device is added to the View.

Using the Expansion Board View

This view is a logical representation of the expansion boards that can be installed in the host Compaq chassis. The expansion boards can include the system board, the Intelligent Drive Array (IDA) board, and the processor board. The view may also show non-intelligent boards and empty slots. The Expansion Boards Device view provides menu and double-click zone access to the views that monitor the boards.

5-3

Mile_End.sysmgmt of type Host_Compaq of Landscape thumper.sysmgmtsol.compaq.com: Primary	_ 0
<u>File View</u>	Help
Todel Name <u>Mile_End.sysmgmt</u> Network Address <u>172.25.162.11</u> Contact Description <u>Hardware: x86 Family 5 Model 2 Stepping 5 COMPAQ SYMM</u> Primary Application	System Up Time <u>6+23:32:11</u> Manufacturer <u>Compaq</u> Device Type <u>Compaq Insight</u> Serial Number [
	<1
0 Compaq ProLiant 4500 Server	
1 (Empty)	
2 (Empty)	
3 Compage Remote Inzight Board	
4 (Empty)	
5 Compute NetFlex-3/E Controller	
6 (Empty)	
7 Compay SMMT SCSI Array Controller OK	
8 (Empty)	
Comput Integrated 32-811 Fast-Nide SC	
10 Control 5/133 Processor Board (200)	
	()

Figure 5-3. Expansion Board View

5-4 Using the Integration

🔤 Host OS of type CmpqHostApp of Landscape thumper.sysmgmtsol.compaq.com: Primary					
* <u>F</u> ile ⊻iew				Help <u>?</u>	
Compaq Host OS CPU Utilization					
Model Name Host DS Contact Description Hardware: x86 Family D	Network Address 117	2.25.162.11	System Up Time Manufacturer Device Type	7+00:22:12 Compaq J Compaq Insight A	
Location MIB-II Serial Number					
_ 100.0 _ 10.00 _ 0.10 _ 0.01 _ 0.00 _ 0.00 _ 0.00 _ 0.00 _ 0.00	5 Minute	2 2.00 2 2.00 5 5.00 2 2.00	2 at 2 at 5 at 2 at	Oct 02 09:39:19 Oct 02 09:39:19 Oct 02 09:39:19 Oct 02 09:39:19 Oct 02 09:39:19	
Graph Properties Scroll to Date-Time					

Utilization of CPU's can be seen by double clicking **OK**. Utilization is displayed in 1,5, and 30 minute utilization increments.

Figure 5-4. Compaq Host OS CPU Utilization

Note: The Compaq Management Module only provides information on EISA BUS slots at this time.

Setting Compaq-Specific Thresholds

Thresholds are values set to trigger alarms and roll up alarm conditions. There are two types of thresholds that can be set through SPECTRUM: thresholds for alarms and thresholds for roll ups. Alarm thresholds are device specific; some devices allow you to set thresholds for abnormal conditions. The roll up threshold values determine the roll up condition color for models that contain the device generating an alarm.

5-5

Based on your experience with the network, you may want to set critical values within some or all devices that will cause alarms to be generated if these values are exceeded. These alarm thresholds are set in the configuration views for the particular device. SPECTRUM's integration with Compaq Insight Manager allows for the setting of thresholds on items that can be used to best understand the performance of the Compaq system. An example would be to set thresholds on disk space utilization, CPU utilization, and NIC utilization of a system that has degraded performance. A client machine could be monopolizing a server by repeated writes to a disk drive on the server. By setting thresholds, this can be determined by tracking the disk utilization in conjunction with the NIC utilization.

5-6 Using the Integration

Thresholds are set through the application view of the system. The threshold application has two separate sets of variables than can be used. These two sets are called the Application Thresholds (App_Thresholds) and the Interface Thresholds (IF_Thresholds). Access to either of these is through a menu. Move the mouse over the Threshold Icon, then click the right mouse button. A menu appears as shown in Figure 5-5.

Mile_End.sysmgmt of type Host_Compaq of	f Landscape thum	nper.sysmgmtso	.compaq.com: Prima	ary	_ 🗆 ×
* <u>F</u> ile ⊻iew					Help <u>?</u>
🕅 Icon Subviews 💌	Network Ad	ldress [172.25.162.11	System Up Tir	ne <u>1+17:21:20</u>
Close					Compaq
Navigate ->	J 5 Model 2		COMPAQ SYMM	Device Type Secial Number	<u>Compaq Insight</u>
Alarms	Filling Hp	pricación [
Performance			_		
Notes	ilth	Storage	5.vr	Sys Info	Thresholds
Utilities ->	App	CopaStra	Rep	CopiqSysRep CopiqSysRep	Dog TheshRep Dog TheshRep
Configuration					
App_Thresholds					
IF_Thresholds					
OS Common Module Table					
Model Information					
	IJ				

Figure 5-5. Threshold Menu

5-7

For the purposes of this discussion, the Application Threshold Editor is used. Click on the *App_Thresholds* button to display the *Compaq Server Threshold Editor*. At this point, knowing the Compaq MIB tree is very useful. As shown in Figure 5-6, the entities available to have threshold settings applied are displayed in a Windows Explorer-type output.

Compaq Server Threshold Editor	T
<u>File Yiew</u>	
212	
Applications	Instances
	cpgHoFileSvsSpaceTotal 1
Host OS	
MB-II	
🗁 Storage Sys	
-CV cpqSsBoxBackPlaneVersion	
-C7 cpqSsTrapLogMaxSize	
-C7 cpqSsBoxType	
-C ⁷ cpqSsTrapPkts	
- 7 Frames_Xmitted	
- C7 cpqSsBoxBusIndex	
-C ² cpqSsBoxFitToIPwrSupplyStatus	
- CpqSsMibRevMajor	
- CpqSsBoxTotalBays	
Frames_Received	
-CrqSsBoxCntlrindex	
- Cord of the Panel Status	
- V Frames_Forward	
C cpq5sbox1emp5tatus	
-C7 cnnSsTranTune	
-C7 Mem Sys Up Time	
-C7 cpqSsMbRevMinor	
-C7 cpqSsBoxFanStatus	
- C7 cpqSsBoxPlacement	
cpqSsTrapLogIndex	
Fi Disabled 🗣	
Same	
	+

Figure 5-6. Compaq Server Threshold Editor

5-8 Using the Integration

Find the desired entry to set the threshold on. Double click the entry using the left mouse button. This places the entry in the right box of the Threshold Editor.

Go to the right box and move the mouse over the entry, then double click the left mouse button. This displays the actual *Set Threshold* window. Typical settings are Polling Intervals, Threshold Top, and Threshold Bottom. Polling intervals are values that direct the Agent in how often it should poll the machine.

= Co	- ompaq Server Thr	esholds for cpqSsBoxBackPlaneVersion_1	• •
? \ ?	hresholds		
		Set Threshold	
Applications		Storage Sys : cpqSsBoxBackPlaneVersion_1	•
Host OS		Current Value: 4	
C Storage Sy		Polling Interval: 60 Secs Value	
- cpqSs - cpqSs - cpqSs - cpqSs - Frames Xm		Threshold Bottom: Threshold Top: 0 0	
- CpqSsBoxBu - CpqSsBoxFl - CpqSsBoxFl - CpqSsMibRe	usIndex tToIPwrSupplyStatus evMajor	Cancel	
- C cpqSsBoxTo - Frames_Rec - cpqSsBoxCo	otalBays ceived nttrindex	•	
Fi Disabled 🗢	+ · s	Disabled \$	

Figure 5-7. Set Threshold Window

After setting desired thresholds, click **OK**. The thresholds are now set and an event is sent to the Event Manager when they are exceeded.

6-1

Chapter 6 Sample Management Solution Scenarios

This chapter provides scenarios that illustrate how SPECTRUM uses the Compaq Management Module (MM) to help diagnose network problems. The following solution scenarios are discussed in this chapter:

- Automating Event Management of Compaq Systems
- Compiling Compaq MIBs into the SPECTRUM MIB Browser

These scenarios are only suggestions on how to use Compaq Insight Manager and the SPECTRUM Compaq MM. There are many other ways the two can be used together. For more information, refer to the documentation for Compaq Insight Manager, Cabletron SPECTRUM, and the Compaq Management Module listed in Chapter 1 of this Technote.

Automating Event Management of Compaq Systems

When a Compaq alarm occurs, it is added to the list of alarms in the Alarm List Panel of the Enterprise Alarm Manager (if it does not match the filtering criteria). The related alarm information is recorded in the Event Log. An alarm is removed from the alarm list when the condition causing it is cleared. Doubleclick an alarm in any column of the Alarm List Panel to display detailed information for that alarm in the Alarm Information Panel.

Assigning a Troubleshooter

The repair management feature of the Enterprise Alarm Manager allows you to assign any troubleshooter your User model has created to selected alarms from the Alarm List Panel. Assigning a troubleshooter to an alarm automatically acknowledges the alarm. Troubleshooter assignments are canceled when the alarm is cleared.

6-2 Sample Management Solution Scenarios

All activities related to repair are recorded in the event log. To assign a troubleshooter to an alarm, perform the following steps:

- 1. Click an alarm to select it in the Alarm List Panel. Use Shift-Select to select multiple alarms. When selected, the alarm is highlighted.
- 2. Select **Assign Troubleshooter...** from the **Actions** menu, or click on the Assign Troubleshooter tool bar icon. The Assign Troubleshooter dialog displays a list of possible troubleshooters.
- 3. Select a troubleshooter from the list, then click **OK**. The selected troubleshooter is now assigned to the selected alarm(s).

To see which troubleshooter is assigned to an alarm, double-click the alarm in the Alarm List Panel. The details of that alarm appear in the Alarm Information Panel. Click the Troubleshooter tab to verify that the appropriate troubleshooter has been assigned to the alarm.

Unassigning a Troubleshooter

The repair management feature of the Enterprise Alarm Manager allows you to unassign a troubleshooter from the list of selected alarms in the Alarm List Panel. Troubleshooter assignments are canceled when the alarm is cleared. A confirmation dialog is displayed before unassigning a troubleshooter.

To unassign a troubleshooter from one or more alarms, perform the following steps:

- 1. Click an alarm to select it in the Alarm List Panel. Use Shift-Select to select multiple alarms. When selected, the alarm is highlighted.
- 2. Select **Unassign Troubleshooter** from the **Actions** menu, or click the Unassign Troubleshooter tool bar icon.
- 3. Click **OK** in the confirmation dialog. The troubleshooter is now unassigned from the alarm.

To check that the troubleshooter has been unassigned from an alarm, doubleclick on the alarm in the Alarm List Panel. The details of that alarm appear in the Alarm Information Panel. Click the Troubleshooter tab to see that the troubleshooter is no longer assigned to the alarm.

Setting the Administrative Status

Enterprise Alarm Manager includes an option for setting the administrative status for any alarm or set of alarms. This repair management feature of the Enterprise Alarm Manager can be an aid in Compaq alarm management and report generation. When setting the status of selected Compaq alarms, you are prompted for new status text.

6-3

To set the status of selected alarms:

- 1. Click a Compaq alarm to select it from the Alarm List Panel. Use Shift-Select to select multiple alarms. When selected, the alarm is highlighted.
- 2. Select **Set Status...** from the **Actions** menu, or click the Set Status tool bar icon. The Set Status dialog is displayed.
- 3. Enter the appropriate information in the text area of the Set Status dialog.
- 4. Click **OK** to set the new status for the alarm(s).

Customizing the Enterprise Alarm Manager

You can set filters to establish the criteria by which the list of Compaq alarms is displayed. These filtering subsets make it possible for you to customize your Enterprise Alarm Manager application to display Compaq alarms appropriate to your networking needs. Only those Compaq alarms that meet all filtering criteria set by the user are displayed. The Filter dialog displays several tabbed pages for setting various types of alarm filters. The options available with each filter are retrieved from the database that is being used to model your network.

6-4 Sample Management Solution Scenarios

You can modify the Enterprise Alarm Manager by selecting a parameter on which to sort the alarms. You may only sort on one parameter at a time. The Compaq Alarms are grouped by sorting on model type.

. .

.

To sort:

- 1. Select **Sort** from the main menu bar.
- 2. Select the desired sort field. Possible sorting options are:

Condition Date/Time Model Type Model Name Landscape

Compiling Compaq MIBs into the SPECTRUM MIB Browser

SPECTRUM has a tool that is used for 'walking' the MIBs of a device. The tool is called MibTool. The Compaq MIBs can be compiled into this MibTool, which displays a Windows Explorer type interface for walking the MIBs.

6-5

The MIBs must be edited prior to compiling. The SPECTRUM MibTool does not gracefully handle comments at the beginning of the MIB files. Therefore, the files must be edited and the comments at the beginning of each file removed. Remove the lines at the beginning of each file that begin with a dash. For example, the following lines would need to be deleted from the Host Operating System MIB File:

Host Operating System Information -----Management Information Base for SNMP Network Management ---------Copyright 1997, Compaq Computer Corporation. --All Rights Reserved. ---The information in this document is subject to change without notice. ---COMPAQ COMPUTER CORPORATION SHALL NOT BE LIABLE FOR TECHNICAL ---OR EDITORIAL ERRORS OR OMISSIONS CONATINED HEREIN; NOR FOR INCIDENTAL ---OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES RESULTING FROM THE FURNISHING, PERFORMANCE, ---OR USE OF THIS MATERIAL. --------Refer to the READMIB.RDM file for more information about the -organization of the information in the Compaq Enterprise. --The Host OS MIB provides operating system information, such as -----name, version, file system information, software running, and more. ---The Compaq Enterprise number is 232. ---The ASN.1 prefix to, and including the Compaq Enterprise is: ------1.3.6.1.4.1.232

6-6 Sample Management Solution Scenarios

Once the files have been edited and the comments are removed, bring up the Mibtool by clicking View, then selecting Utilities, and then clicking on MibTools. This displays the MibTools, as shown in the Figure 6-1.

Browser Ed	itor Devices De	tails Preferenc	ces Communit	v String-	A
MOOR_PA	RK 🔽 11	72.25.162.21	• public	•	
Hierarchy of	Managed Informatio	n			
*List	Find -> comp	aq=1.3.6.1.4.1.232	2		
		+ att-2	2 na		▲ AutoClea
		+ ban	iyan Guun		Stop
		+ cros	ssComm 1		
		+ kalp	oana	-	
			upaq		-
Attributes o	f Queried Objects				_
					<- Set
Object	Instance	Turne	Value		0.Objecto
00,000	mstance	Type	Value		0.000000
					Clear

Figure 6-1. MibTools Utility

6-7

To compile the Compaq MIBs, click the Editor tab. This displays the Editor mode. At the right of the pane is a dialog box labeled *Text File*. Click on the icon to the right of this dialog box. This displays a window that asks for the location of the MIB files as shown in Figure 6-2:

Miblools - SPECTRUM MIB Tools Version 1.0					
Elle Edit Sort Preferences Help					
Browser Editor Devices Details Preferences	Browser Editor Devices Details Preferences				
Target internet=13.6.1	4	Source compaq=1.3.6.1.4.1.232			
Data Set : The World		Text File : C:\tmp\cabletron\MIBS\Cpqhost			
The dataset TempDB has been successfully reloaded.					

Figure 6-2. MIB Editor Screen

The MIBs must be compiled one at a time. Select the desired MIB.

6-8 Sample Management Solution Scenarios

MibTools - SPECTRUM MIB Tools Version 1.0	- U ×
<u>Eile E</u> dit <u>S</u> ort <u>P</u> references <u>H</u> elp	
Browser Editor Devices Details Preferences	
T MIB Compiler	
MIB File Name Compiled MIB Objects	±
C (1)tmp\cshiatcop\MIRS\Conduct mib	
Compiler Warnings & Errors	
Start Apply Cancel	
Test Side The IVE of the State	2
I ext File : C:\timp\cabletron\MIBS\Cpqhost	1
MIB definition file "C3tmp/cabletronUMIB5/Cpqhost.mb" selected.	

The MIB Compiler pane displays as shown in Figure 6-3:

Figure 6-3. MIB Compiler Screen

The MIB filename appears in the top of the pane. Click **Start**. The MIB begins to compile. Any errors or warnings appear in the left dialog of the pane. The actual MIB names appear in the right dialog. Once the compile is complete click on the **Apply** button. This applies the MIB to a temporary database.

To merge the newly compiled MIBs into the production database, click the green arrow in the middle of the pane. This merges the two databases into one adding the Compaq MIBs into the proper tree – Internet.Private.Enterprises.Compaq.

Repeat above steps for all Compaq MIB files.

6-9

Once all the MIBs have been compiled and merged into the production database, click the Browse tab. From here 'walk' the MIB tree until Compaq appears as shown in Figure 6-4.

鄧 MibTools - SPECTRUM MIB Tools Version 1.0 File Edit Sort Preferences 丹elp	_ 🗆 ×
Browser Editor Devices Details Preferences SNMP Agent Name IP Address Community String MOOR_PARK I72.25.162.21 public Image: Compare 1.36.1.41.232 Hierarchy of Managed Information "List Find -> compage 1.3.6.1.41.232	Query
Compage Co	V AutoClear
Attributes of Queried Objects	<- Set
Object Instance Type Value	0 Objects Clear
The dataset TempDB has been successfully reloaded.	

Figure 6-4. Walking the MIB tree

6-10 Sample Management Solution Scenarios

To view MIB variables on a particular machine, enter the appropriate machine information at the top of the pane. Go to the desired MIB. Highlight the MIB and click the **Query** button on the right side of the pane. The information appears in the bottom window of the pane, as shown in Figure 6-5.

疆MibTools - SPECTRUM MIB Tools Version 1.0	_ 🗆 ×		
<u>File E</u> dit <u>S</u> ort <u>P</u> references <u>H</u> elp			
Browser Editor Devices Details Preferences SNMP Agent Name IP Address IT2 25.162.21 Upublic	\$ @		
Hierarchy of Managed Information			
*List Find -> cpqHeMibRev=1.3.6.1.4.1.232.6.1	Query		
• cpqDriveArray • cpqServerManager • cpqSesi • cpqHealth • cpqHealth	 CpqDriveArray CpqServerManager CpqSesie CpqHealth CpqHeMibRev CpqHeComponent CpqHeTrap 		
Attributes of Queried Objects			
	<- Set		
Object Instance Type Value	3 Objects		
CpqHeMib 0 INTEGER 1	<u> </u>		
CpqHeMib 0 INTEGER 6	Clear		
CpqHeMib 0 INTEGER ok(2)			
Done querying objects under <cpqhemibrev>.</cpqhemibrev>			

Figure 6-5. Querying a MIB

The information can be gathered from any level of the MIB. For example, if the top level (Compaq) is highlighted and the query button is clicked, all the information available from that device is retrieved.

Appendix A Troubleshooting

Why do my Compaq Devices show up as Generic SNMP Devices after AutoDiscovery?

If the Compaq devices show up as Generic SNMP devices after installation and the running of AutoDiscovery, there are several items to check.

First verify that the Compaq devices are running the Compaq Insight Management Agents. If the Agents are not running, SPECTRUM cannot identify the device as a Compaq.

Second, make sure that the Compaq model was installed. Try to do a manual model of a Compaq device, as discussed in Chapter 6. If the Host_Compaq model is not in the list, then the extraction key provided by Cabletron did not unlock the Compaq Model. Contact Cabletron for a new extraction key.

Another possibility is a site that has several SpectroSERVERs installed but not synchronized. If multiple Spectroservers are running, all must have the Compaq Management Module installed, as discussed in chapter 5. The solution would be to sync up the SpectroSERVERs by installing the Module at each site.

Appendix B Acquiring the Compaq Management Module

The Cabletron SPECTRUM Compaq MM is provided on the SPECTRUM CD. Keys to activate the MM can be obtained by placing a call to Cabletron at:

(603)337-3500	
44-635-580000	
49-6103/991-269	
81-3-3240-1981	
61-2-950-5900	
65-7755355	

Support of the product can be obtained through the same phone numbers

Index

Α

additional hardware requirements, 3-2 additional resources, 1-2 alarm, 5-5, 6-1 alarm filters, 6-3 alarms, sorting, 6-4 Alarm List Panel, 6-1, 6-2 alarm thresholds, 5-5 Application Threshold Editor, 5-7 application thresholds, 5-6 application view, 5-6 assign a troubleshooter to an alarm, 6-2 acquiring the Compaq Management Module, B-1 Autodiscovery, 2-2, 5-1, A-1 Autodiscovery of Compaq Devices, 2-2 automatic problem filtering, 2-1 Automating Event Management of Compaq Systems, 6-1

В

boards, monitoring, 5-3

С

Cabletron SPECTRUM, 1-1 Compaq alarm management, 6-3 alarm integration, 2-2, 2-7 Desktops and Professional Workstations, 2-2 events and alarms, 2-7 Host OS, 2-3 IDA, 2-2 Insight Management Agents, 2-1, 2-2, 5-2, A-1 Insight Manager, 1-1, 2-1, 2-6, 5-4 Insight Manager Desktop Agent, 2-7 Management Module, 2-2, 2-3, 4-1, 4-2, 6-1 SCSI Systems, 2-3 Server Health, 2-3 Server Threshold Editor, 5-7 Storage Systems, 2-3 System Information, 2-3 Thresholds, 2-3 compiling Compaq MIBs, 6-1, 6-5 CPU speeds, 2-6 CPU utilization, 2-7, 5-5 Customizing the Enterprise Alarm Manager, 6-3

D

disk and RAM Requirements, 3-2 disk space utilization, 5disk utilization, 2-7 document conventions, 1-3

Ε

EISA Bus utilization, 1-1, 2-7 Enterprise Alarm Manager, 2-1, 5-5, 6-1, 6-3, 6-4 Enterprise Console, 1-1 Event Log, 6-1 Event Manager, 5-8 Expansion Board View, 2-2, 2-6, 5-3 extraction key, 4-1, A-1

G

Generic SNMP Device, A-1

I-1

I-2 Index

Η

hardware requirements, 3-1

installing the Compaq Management Module, 4-1
Intelligent Drive Array (IDA) board, 5-3
Integration Feature Summary, 2-1
intelligent monitoring, 2-1
interface thresholds, 5-6

Μ

Management Information Base (MIB), 2-3 Manual modeling, 5-1 MibTool, 6-5 minimum available disk space, 3-1, 3-2 minimum physical RAM, 3-1 minimum Swap Space, 3-1 modeling of Compaq devices, 5-1 Module Selection Screen, 4-1 monitor, 3-2 monitor boards, 5-3

Ν

NIC utilization, 5-5 Network Management System, 2-1 Nodeview, 2-4

Ρ

preinstallation considerations, 3-1 processor board, 5-3

R

recommended minimum system requirements, 3-1

remote maintenance, 2-1 requirements, hardware and software, 3-1 roll up alarm conditions, 5-5

S

serial numbers, 2-7 Select Model Type, 5-1 select multiple alarms, 6-2 Set Threshold Window, 5-8 Setting Compaq Specific Thresholds, 2-2, 2-7, 5-5 setting thresholds, 6-1 setting filters, 6-3 SpectroGRAPH, 2-1, 3-1 SpectroGRAPH Component, 4-2 SpectroSERVER, 2-1, 3-1, 4-2, A-1 SpectroSERVER Catalogs, 4-2 SPECTRUM, 2-7, 3-1, 4-1, 5-2, 5-4, 5-5, 6-1 SPECTRUM Enterprise Alarm Manager, 1-1, 2-7 SPECTRUM Enterprise Manager, 2-1 Support for Compaq Desktops and Professional Workstations, 2-7 Swap Space, 3-2 software requirements, 3-1 sorting options, 6-4 status of selected alarms, 6-3 support, A-1 system board, 5-3

Т

thermal conditions, 2-7 total disk required, 3-2 Threshold Editor, 5-8 Threshold Menu, 5-6 troubleshooter, 6-1 troubleshooting, A-1

. . -.

I-3

U

.

unassign a troubleshooter, 6-2 utilization, 2-6

V

views of the Compaq Specific MIB's, 2-3

W

Wide Area Network, 2-7 Windows NT, 3-1